

"What will the future look like?", is a question many people ask themselves, out of curiosity and uncertainty. This is also true for researchers wanting to assess what the effects of any current practices can have on the future. Spaces that show intense and diverse use or even exploitation are especially interesting for analyzing their possible future. Therefore, this thesis attempts to create narratives to show what the Mediterranean could look like by 2100 under several scenarios that are influenced by current tourism practices, trends and other socio-economic factors, combined with frameworks that have been previously used for climate scenarios. The narratives will then be able to be used for further research involving the interplay between climate and tourism. The SSP (Shared Socioeconomic Pathways) framework is used to assess the possible impacts of tourism trends on the Mediterranean. This research attempts to show the polarizing possibilities for the area and the sector, by basing the narratives for SSP1 (Climate Changed) and SSP5 (S.O.S) on the SSP's that were created for Europe in an earlier research. Sustainability and conscious behavior in SSP1 is strongly opposed to destructive and consumptive actions displayed in SSP5. This large gap in possible futures stresses the unpredictability and vulnerability of tourism in the Mediterranean.

### **Authorship Statement**

Thesis title: Scenarios for Tourism - What are the possible futures?

Subtitle: /

Author name: Tiger-Lily Ketellapper

Bachelor degree program: Bachelor of Science Tourism

Educational Institute: Breda University of Applied Science and Wageningen University & Research

#### **Authorship statement**

I hereby declare that this thesis is wholly the work of Tiger-Lily Ketellapper Any other contributors have either been referenced in the prescribed manner or are listed in the acknowledgements together with the nature and the scope of their contribution.

Where I have consulted the published work of others this is always clearly attributed. Where I have quoted from the work of others the source is always given. A list of the references used, is included. An appropriate referencing style is used throughout. With the exception of such quotations this thesis is entirely my own work. I have read and understand the penalties associated with plagiarism as stated in the Student Charter.

### **Declaration of Partial Copyright**

I hereby grant to Breda University of Applied Science ("BUas") and Wageningen University ("WUR") the non-exclusive, royalty-free right to include a digital copy of my thesis and associated supplemental files ("Work") in the Library Catalogue at BUas. BUas and WUR may use, reproduce, display, convert, sublicense and distribute the Work for purposes of a scholarly or research nature, in any format and any medium, without prior permission or charge, provided that the Work is not altered in any way and is properly acknowledged, including citing the author, title and full bibliographic details. (Note: this corresponds to the Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives, or CC BY-NC-ND Creative Commons license)

I further agree that BUas and WUR may keep more than one copy of the Work for purposes of back-up and security; and that BUas and WUR may, without changing the content, translate, if technically possible, the Work to any medium or format for the purpose of preserving the Work and facilitating the exercise of BUas and WUR's rights under this license. I understand that work deposited in the BUas Library Catalogue will be accessible to a wide variety of people and institutions - including automated agents - via the World Wide Web. Copying, publication, or public performance of the Work for commercial purposes shall not be allowed without my written permission.

While granting the above uses to BUas and WUR, I retain copyright ownership and moral rights in the Work, and may deal with the copyright in the Work in any way consistent with the terms of this license, including the right to change the Work for subsequent purposes, including editing and publishing the Work in whole or in part, and licensing the content to other parties as I may desire.

I represent and warrant that I have the right to grant the rights contained in this license and that the Work does not, to the best of my knowledge, infringe upon anyone's copyright. I have obtained written copyright permission, where required, for the use of any third-party copyrighted material contained in the Work. I represent and warrant that the Work is my original work and that I have not previously assigned or relinquished the rights conferred in this license.

Date: June 5, 2019 Signature:

# **Acknowledgement**

I would like to take this opportunity to first thank my mother for helping me mentally through my Bachelor study. During the process of writing my thesis, my housemates from "de Boerderie" provided me with warm meals and great company after a long day at the library. My friends from the athletics association "Tartlétos" helped me release my energy through sports and fun, which I am very thankful for.

I also want to thank my supervisor Bas Amelung and Kasper Kok for great support and help when needed.

I am grateful for my closest friends Erik, Caitlin, Evan, Tim, Hidde and Anna.

Thanks to my father I was helped with recognizing language and grammar mistakes in my thesis.

I thank the Grand Café and Thuisbezorgd for nervous support whenever needed.

# **Table of contents**

Introduction
Research questions
Conceptual framework
Existing scenarios for tourism10
SSP framework12
Eur-SSP's13
Framework for this research14
Methods & Case
Mediterranean Tourism15
Constructing SSP's17
Tourism trends & related developments19
General data19
Cruise tourism20
Cultural tourism21
Smart tourism22
The digital age23
Urban tourism24
Sustainable tourism25
Rural tourism26
Terrorism27
Tourism, the ecosystem and its services27
Choise of SSP's & matching the trends30
Choice of SSP's30
Matching the trends31
The scenarios
Mediterranean-SSP1: Climate Changed33
Mediterranean-SSP5: S.O.S35
Discussion

Limitations	39
Suggestions for further research	39
Conclusion	40

References......41

6

Introduction 7

The impacts of tourism are a well-known topic that is dealt with by many scholars, whereas both negative and positive effects on the destination or the sector itself are obtained. Mediterranean tourism is no exception to this. Being one of the most important tourism destinations globally, it faces a future that is unknown (Amelung & Viner, 2006). With skyrocketing arrivals, the Mediterranean is hitting the ceiling regarding visitor capacity, social capacity and resources (Urtasun & Gutiérrez, 2006). Additionally, from the destructive use of ecosystems to global warming, the Mediterranean area is suffering from the effects of mass tourism (Estrela et al, 2012). Climate consciousness has not reached as much success as desired, meaning that there are still gaps in the population that do not believe in or not aware of the effects of climate change (Gomez-Martin et al, 2016). This leads to irresponsible behavior, especially at the travel destination (Jacobsen et al, 2015).

Much scientific research has been done attempting to assess what the future of (Mediterranean) tourism beholds, based on the current practices at the destination. It is being increasingly discussed that the only way to achieve a successful future for tourism is the fast implementation of sustainability into the sector (Gössling et al, 2010). With help of making scenarios, many papers have attempted to exemplify the implications current practices and trends could have on the future, trying to visualise uncertainties and consequently being able to take them into account.

Generally, scenarios are a method to make projections based on issues that are of current concern (Bunn & Salo, 1993). This is a rather dated definition, however, as scenarios are increasingly made to use one's imagination with a basis of real data. Like this, plausible futures can be explored. There is a diversion on thoughts on the usefulness of scenarios, showing that some researchers see it more as a creative form of predicting the future, whereas others claim that scenarios should portray a scientific method (Moriarty, 2012).

Using scientific methods for the assessment of uncertainties has been popularised in 1990's, where the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) was established by environmental stakeholders (World Meteorological Organization (WMO) & United Nations Environmental Programme) (Griggs & Noguer, 2002; Houghton et al, 2001). The IPCC was motivated by the uncertainties about the impacts of climate change, using climatic and socio-economic information, attempting to mitigate or adapt to global warming. By doing so, the Special Report on Emissions Scenarios (SRES) were constructed, displaying four narratives showing the different directions that current greenhouse gas emissions could take in the future (Nakicenovic et al, 2001).

As this framework got dated, an updated version of scenario frameworks was developed, namely RCP's (Representative Concentration Pathways) and SSP's (Shared Socioeconomic Pathways), which separately address the emissive and socio-economic factors affecting the environment (Van Vuuren et al, 2014). These frameworks also incorporate narratives in a similar manner as the SRES. The SSP framework has been identified as being a broad and general starting point for many purposes, as SSP's leave much room for specification. With the interest in assessing the uncertainties and its possible effects of tourism in the Mediterranean, the objective of this research is to develop scenarios for Mediterranean tourism that are consistent with the climate oriented SSPs, which will then be applicable for other research related to tourism and climate.

SSP's have not been widely utilised in the field of tourism yet, however this scientific method of assessing uncertainties is helpful, especially because there are many different possibilities on the development of the area and the sector. One article has very recently made SSP's and RCP's for tourism in the Mediterranean, focusing more on quantitative data to assess the effect a 2 degree increase in temperature due to climate change would have on the destination and the sector in general (Koutroulis et al, 2018). The same article also mentions that the lack of research on the implications of climate change on tourism should be strong motivator to give this field more attention. Using socio-economic factors has been shown to be a very crucial factor in assessing futures. Though climate does have impacts on tourism and vice versa, this paper will also highlight other factors that have implications on the sector.

This thesis will attempt to obtain a broad range of trends, which will then hint at the diverse range of events possible under the narratives made with the SSP framework. The added value of making SSP's for tourism is the general usability for stakeholders and researchers. The exemplification of the effects that current practices have on the future should, depending on the outcomes, be encouraging or alarming and ultimately lead to a sustainable and promising future. Especially the Mediterranean is fitting to apply the scenarios to, as this area is a very important and competitive tourism destination that relies on a sustainable development to stay strong within the industry. The IPCC has even declared the Mediterranean as a "climate change hot spot" (Loizidou et al, 2016). Combining this statement with the destination being strained by socioeconomic factors, thesis-specific research questions will be formulated to assess the interplay between these factors.

# **Research questions**

With the research objective in mind, the following research questions have been designed to guide the construction of making Mediterranean specific SSP's. This research will merely focus on the Mediterranean countries located in Europe.

CRQ: What futures for Mediterranean beach tourism are possible under the framework of SSP's?

RQ 1: How can the SSP' framework be translated into area specific tourism scenarios?

RQ 2: What trends can be identified for the development of tourism in the Mediterranean?

RQ 3: Which SSP's are most suitable to specify for the Mediterranean?

RQ 4: How do the current tourism trends fit into the scenarios?

**RQ 5: How do the trends translate into narratives?** 

With the research questions now introduced, the thesis will continue with an explanation of the conceptual framework, leading toward the methods that will be used to construct the SSP's. The Mediterranean SSP's will be backed up with an extensive literature analysis, supporting the narratives that were made. During the discussion, the scenarios will be critically reflected upon and compared, following with concluding remarks on the findings that were obtained.

### **Existing scenarios for tourism**

Much research has already been undertaken with the making of scenarios for tourism. Common topics for tourism scenarios include sustainability and climate change, but also for planning the development of tourism as a sector (Gössling & Scott, 2012). A general set of scenarios was made by Postma et al (2017), who constructed four scenarios for sustainable tourism by 2040. This was motivated by stressing the urge to change current tourism practices, with sustainability as the only way to have a safe future for tourism. The article laid its focus on city tourism, as this sector especially faces many issues regarding sustainability and conflict with the locals, which is often caused by the congestion caused by the travelers.

To exemplify tourism scenarios more specifically, one article made scenarios for Scottish tourism with a projection of 10 years into the future, while basing the different scenarios off a list of opportunities and threats for Scotland. A matrix of 4 scenarios was made with 2 trends, economic environment and consumer propensity (Yeoman & Lederer 2005). The gist of this research was the assessment of current issues and opposing them to each other in a grid to show the different futures. Additionally, scenarios have been made for the potential future impacts of tourism on land use in Portugal, showing three different outcomes, ranging from land destruction to sustainable use and protection (Boavida-Portugal et al, 2016). Regarding demographic scenarios, it was discussed what possible impacts the ageing society could have on tourism in Austria (Steiger, 2012). The article showed that some advantages could arise from this demographic change, as this would mean more people with more free time after their retirement. However, in the long haul, it is unsure how the government will be able to continue with funding of the older generation that keeps increasing and having a longer life span. This in turn would mean less disposable income and a decrease in tourism demand. Although this research was based on skiing tourism in Austria, this socioeconomic variable should be considered for scenarios for the Mediterranean as well.

Also plenty of examples for scenarios for tourism under the influence of climate change have been made, especially for vulnerable areas like the Caribbean and other coastal areas (Scott et al, 2012). Especially sea level rise and its implications is used for making scenarios, which show severities such as the disappearance of beaches and therefore portray a destruction of an important asset for coastal destinations. One can identify that current climatic development is a problem but also an uncertainty to many stakeholders and destinations, which is the reason why scenarios are increasing in popularity (Weaver,

2011). Scenarios were also created for the study of ethical behavior of tour operators towards the local stakeholders, as this presents an issue for vulnerable areas like developing countries (Fennell & Malloy, 1999).

When zooming in from the before mentioned scenarios made for areas outside the area into the different scenarios that have been made into the Mediterranean area specifically, many similarities are identifiable. For instance, several sources link climate change to (tourism in) the Mediterranean. One article used a set of European scenarios and narrowed it down to the Mediterranean, while making scenarios based on the desertification of the landscape (Kok et al, 2005). Among others, determinants like tourism and travel, but also agriculture and destructive but innovative technology were named. Another paper researched possible scenarios based on the current land use in tourist dense areas around Spain (Garcia-Ayllon, 2018). Apart from the article that assessed the climatic impacts on the area that was mentioned in the introduction of this thesis (Koutroulis et al, 2018), another article had similar intention, solely focusing on the country of Spain (Cantos & Rebolo, 2016). This research was motivated by the high importance of Spain as a tourist destination on a global scale, showing similar conclusions as other papers, namely the high uncertainty, vulnerability and the urge to implement sustainability.

One research linked the climatic threats triggered by climate change to the general importance of temperature and climate as a determinant for tourism demand in the Mediterranean (Valls & Sarda, 2009). The article used literature in combination with expert interviews (Delphi method) to create visions for tourism in the future, showing the importance of the change in stakeholder behavior to create a durable future for the sector. The numerous scenarios that have been made are quite cohesive to the extent that they attempt to visualize and comprehend the potential effects of current determinants, issues or phenomena on the future. It has become evident that there is a lack in the assessment of more specific issues rather than merely climatic problems in combination with tourism in the Mediterranean, reinforcing the urge of this thesis to gain a different approach on the area.

Climatic research with help of scenarios is not a novelty, as SSP's are actually a modernized version of older socio-economic scenarios, which were called SRES (Special Report on Emissions Scenarios) (Parry et al, 2004). The formation of these frameworks was originated by IPCC, having large concerns about current SSP's show an improved version of the SRES by incorporating more recent demographic and socio-economic issues, but also putting more focus on climatic impacts (Ebi et al, 2014). That being said, the application of this framework on tourism has not been done frequently, yet. Shared socioeconomic pathways are a way of making a set of scenarios for the future that are helpful to make plans and projections (Kok et al, 2018). Therefore, when having made a set of SSP's, they can be used for other goals and applications to make more scenarios in different disciplines. SSP's can be made in two different manners; one using quantitative data of variables that are identified as relevant for the research, the other is writing narratives incorporating qualitative data. Primarily, SSP's are applied in the research of climate change, meaning that scenarios made with this framework show different futures for climatic impacts (Jiang & O'Neill, 2017). SSP's are a result of showing "challenges to adaptation and challenges to mitigation" (Kok et al, 2018).

The article by Jiang & O'Neill shows that SSP's incorporate socioeconomic development into the equation, to build a framework that shows human impact on the environment. SSP's are unique in that sense, as they make several alternatives for the future with a specified guideline what direction each future should take (Jiang & O'Neill, 2017). As there is a basic set of SSP's, it is possible to make an extended set to fit different regions and contexts (Van Ruijven et al, 2014). Socioeconomic factors that are used in SSP frameworks often include the following: Income distribution, Spatial population, Human health and governance (Van Ruijven et al, 2014). The usability of this selection of factors will also be assessed for the use of SSP's for tourism. The general amount of SSP's that are made for a research is 5, as in most research projects, this amount was adopted with contrasting but also nuancing futures. However, the amount of SSP's necessary is respective to the research that is done. Every one of the 5 SSP's show different levels of the influence of socioeconomic factors on the outcome (Hasegawa et al, 2015). For instance, the article by Hasegawa used socioeconomic factors to make scenarios concerning risk of hunger. Many applications have made using this framework, making it necessary to now move on to the specific framework that will be used for this research, the European SSP's.

Eur-SSP's

A particularly important SSP framework is is the Eur-SSP's, which is a set of European SSP's that was translated from a global set of SSP's (Kok et al, 2018). The article that constructed these continent specific SSP's combined the global SSP's with CLIMSAVE scenarios, which look at the impacts of climate change (Harrison et al, 2015).

The research paper by Kok et al has undertaken this translation and states that the global set of SSP's deals with "plausible future outlooks of a range of demographic, economic, technological, social, and environmental factors". It is also hinted at the negative impacts of climate change on people, which was already confirmed to be relevant earlier in the literature review when looking at the climate preferences by tourists when spending their vacation in the Mediterranean. The global SSP's consisted of 5 storylines on climate change (O'Neill et al, 2013), however the European scenarios are made up of four narratives (figure 1). SSP2 has been left out, as the researchers decided that this scenario is not relevant for Europe. Therefore, the research narrowed the scenarios down from to four, which could imply that for this research, less than 4 SSP's will be most suitable to make the most efficient scenarios. This choice is made as the more specified the SSP's are to an area, the less SSP's are constructed to stay as accurate and usefully argued as possible.

New European socio-economic scenarios for climate change research: operationalising concepts to extend the...

649

Table 3 Key elements of the four European-shared socio-economic pathways (Eur-SSPs), representing the situation towards 2100

Key elements	Eur-SSP1 We are the World	Eur-SSP3 Icarus	Eur-SSP4 Riders on the Storm	Eur-SSP5 Fossil-fuelled Development
Decision-making level	International/EU leader	National/local widespread fragmentation	International / Europe leader on the global scale	International/EU not a leader on the global scale
International cooperation	Strong, EU important player	Weak	Strong, EU important player	Strong (trade)
Migration	Low immigration	Outmigration	Selected immigration	High to cities and from poorer countries
Economic development	Gradual (with hiccups at the beginning)	Low	High	High
Mobility	No barriers, but movements are limited	Low	High	High
Social cohesion	High	Low EU/higher within countries	Low	High
Technology development	High, but not pervasive	Low	High in some areas; low in labour intensive areas	Strong and crucial
Quality of Governance	High—focus on sustainability	Low and ineffective	High and effective	High with focus on businesses
Human health investments	High	Low	High for elites, medium for lower class	High
Education investments	High	Low	High for elites, medium for lower class	High
Environmental respect	High	Low	High in pockets	Low, with high 'not in my backyard'

# Framework for this research

The frameworks now explained, one can summarize the framework specifically fitting to this research, simultaneously addressing the first research question. The Eur-SSP's display a fitting boundary framework for the Mediterranean SSP's, however not all SSP's will be relevant. In order to tailor these concepts to a fitting framework for this research, a combination needs to be formed. Therefore, the Eur-SSP's will be used to make new qualitatively designed SSP's that have a future perspective until 2100. As the Eur-SSP's are already specified through the larger global SSP set, it seems fitting to use this framework for this research as well.

## **Methods & Case**

The research questions have been constructed to guide the thesis in a comprehensive manner and in a chronological order. For each research question to be answered, different methods will be needed. To find out which SSP's will be suitable for the Mediterranean, the general Eur-SSP's have been introduced, and later the trends that were found will be analyzed. Simultaneously, it becomes clearer how the trends fit into the scenarios, which will then be translated into the narratives. Not only trends will be needed to be identified, but also more detailed data on tourism behavior is needed, like numbers on arrivals. Based on the results that have been found, the narratives will be written in a similar style to the general Eur-SSP's. To round up this research, the narratives that have been written will be compared. To commence the research, one first needs to gain overview of how one constructs SSP's.

# **Constructing SSP's**

As the case has now been described, the method of making SSP's needs to be investigated. Several articles have stated the methods on how to make Socioeconomic pathways, however they differ from each other, as it depends on the field of application of the SSP's. An article by Riahi et al made a list of general steps to take to make SSP's, which goes as follows:

Step 1: writing of narratives

Step 2: utilizing data that has been collected to enrich the stories and make them relevant for your research

Step 3: Using quantitative data to further develop the SSP's

Step 4: Using baseline data as references for comparison

Step 5: Showing mitigation scenarios

(Riahi et al, 2017).

As SSP's have not yet been developed for tourism numerously, one can merely take inspiration from other examples, like SSP's for climate (O'Neill & Kriegler, 2014), land use (Riahi & Van Vuuren, 2017), health (Springmann & Mason-D'Croz, 2016) etc. The steps named before can be used as reference for this research, however due to the focus on more qualitative data collection, the feasibility of implementing Step 3 is impaired.

Universally, SSP's use five storylines that have been consistently found throughout the literature (Samir & Lutz, 2017). The same article mentions the population size as most important factor for future populations, which can hypothetically be also true for tourism, as this would also imply more travelers (Cervero, 2003). The starting point for the SSP's that will be made are the Eur-SSP's made by Kok et al. As these SSP's have been made very recently (2018), they are highly relevant and form a comprehensive overview on current European outlooks. Using a larger set of SSP's to specify them to a specific area has been done already and shows to provide a general base for more SSP's. As mentioned earlier, current trends will be utilized as frameworks for the SSP's. Every scenario will involve a narrative with a storyline that involves the findings within the literature review. For each storyline, a different trend or factor will be used (Absar & Preston, 2015). The outcome should be different scenarios that range from positive to negative futures. Every narrative will have a title, which will make the scenarios more comprehensive, especially when basing future research on these SSP's.

The methods of constructing SSP's for own research relies on the literature that has been reviewed to find out about important and relevant aspects that can influence the future in different ways (Merkens et al, 2016). Based on the findings in the literature, the most important features should be extracted and used as narratives for the SSP's. For the case of this research, it would be most fitting to look at the current tourism trends and use them as narratives. The article by Kok et al mentions several methods that are used to make SSP's by showing how one can nuance between scenarios:

- "(a) equivalent scenarios, where outcomes are directly transferred between scales;
- (b) consistent scenarios, where higher scale scenarios provide strict boundary conditions and main scenario assumptions and drivers are set to be similar;
- (c) coherent scenarios that follow the same paradigm and can be seen as a different representation of the same scenario archetype (see also Section 'Challenges and risks when developing equivalent scenarios');
- (d) comparable scenarios, covering potentially very different aspects and connected mainly by shared concepts or general issues that are addressed; and
- (e) complementary scenarios, when developed independently with differences in the logics and assumptions across scales, but with complementing information"

  (Kok et al, 2017)

For this research, point b) will be the best fitting method, as this means the use of a broader range of scenarios, in this case the Eur-SSP's and translating those storylines to a smaller set of scenarios, which will be the Mediterranean tourism scenarios. The scenarios that will be formulated will follow the assumptions of the Eur-SSP's. When making the choice of which SSP's to include in the research, one should consider the article by O'Neill,

stating two different methods on how to use the data, in this case the trends, and cluster them into the SSP's. Firstly, one could regard the factors that are collected and then develop the SSP's, being a "forward approach". Secondly, the inverse approach can be adopted, looking at the outcomes that are aspired to be displayed, then linking the factors that are found in the research (O'Neill et al, 2014). The forward approach will be utilized, being the more frequently used method, as the case of the Mediterranean shows very diverse issues and occurrences, making it hard to first make assumptions about outcomes before having undertaken extensive research on the trends.

#### The Case: Mediterranean Tourism

The Mediterranean area is a well-established destination, which has been fully developed and adapted for (mass) tourism (Farsari & Prastacos, 2001). Especially for beach tourism, the Mediterranean area is one of the most important destinations worldwide (Nicholls, 2006). The area is also referred to as a "sea, sun and sand" region (Rosselló & Waqas, 2016). Mediterranean tourism has been a popular vacation destination ever since the mid 1900's, when mass tourism started to develop. For instance, Catalonia was one of the first Spanish areas to be affected by increasing travel (Garay & Cánoves, 2011). Apart from the mass tourism, residential tourism has also been developed very strongly in this area (Morote et al, 2017). This type of tourism entails the ownership of a (second) home for leisure purposes. According to the article by Morote, especially for travellers coming from northern Europe, residential tourism in this area is very popular. But, also in more recent years, the Mediterranean has been proven to be the most attractive and lucrative tourist destination, with over 267.4 million visitors in 2017 (UNWTO). However, climate change and its result of increasing temperatures could potentially make this area strongly vulnerable. One later research obtained the vast importance of weather to tourists, showing that high temperatures are desired, though "too high" temperatures are disliked (Moreno, 2010).

The paper stressed that the future under global warming could imply that people would consider staying at home instead of going to the Mediterranean as the weather and the temperature is already comparable to their otherwise vacation destination. Different research has obtained similar results, stating that Mediterranean summers are increasingly "too hot", which is especially unfortunate for this area in particular, since climate is seen as its most important characteristic (Rutty & Scott, 2010).

Since seasonality is an issue for the Mediterranean, the uncomfortably warm temperatures during summer could have strong impacts on the tourist arrivals and a shift to more tourism in other, otherwise cooler regions could be expected (Amelung & Viner, 2006).

As a serious rise in temperatures is expected to occur in the future, it will be very fitting to formulate and include a scenario with these characteristics for this research (Hall et al, 2015).

One of the largest target markets for Mediterranean tourism is Great Britain, which has developed to be a serious threat for the vacation area, as the travel expenses will increase significantly for British people if the Brexit will be implemented (Cirer-Costa, 2017). This article leaves the impression that the Mediterranean area is, like many other tourist destinations, vulnerable to political issues in the target countries. For the case of Spain, the number of beach tourists is stagnant, due to various reasons including a shift from mass tourism to alternative tourism (Christou, 2012). However, the same article states that countries like Greece, Slovenia and Croatia face a harder challenge with adapting to this shift as they have issues with spreading awareness about their cultural heritage, but also the renovation and conservation of these, and alternative activities that can be done within these countries. The case shows various points that need further investigation, being namely the climatic issues, the recent trends and potential political problems.

Although (mass) tourism is taking its toll on the Mediterranean area, there are also signs that there is positive development regarding a less damaging practice of tourism, which will become evident in the next paragraphs, identifying numerous tourism trends. A paper by Buckley et al (2014) gives a general overview of the so-called "mega trends". Among these are the effects of climate change, increasing prices for fuel, new technologies, the rise of the BRIC countries, political conflict between states and the relationship between conservation and tourism. These points are not applied to a specific area, which therefore may show contradictions with the Mediterranean-specific trends. However, this paper will serve as a general starting point.

Having the second research question in mind, a selection of the most important numbers and trends for the area will be identified, which will then be followed by a paragraph on related issues and climatic developments that the area and the tourism industry are facing. The trends were chosen based on examples that were given for them within the Mediterranean, but also more general trends were selected that were evaluated to be relevant for the area as well.

# **General data**

The WTO offers much current data, repsetively numeric trends, on development of tourism, however it is mostly quantitative data concerning the activity of tourists. For instance, the WTO showed that international arrivals grew by 6% in 2018, with an average growth of 4.2% in the past 10 years (global). Europe showed a growth of international arrivals of 5.7% in 2018 and accounted for more than half of worldwide arrivals (UNWTO World Tourism Barometer, Vol 17 Issue 1). Especially Western Balkan countries and countries in Eastern Europe showed high growth, as opposed to countries that have been the most popular vacation countries located in the Mediterranean like Spain and Italy. This data shows that the area of concern for this research is rather stagnant compared to other more trending destinations. One more contradicting statistic is provided by Rico et al (2019), stating that Barcelona (Spain) has experienced an increase in arrivals by 25% between 2008-2015. The reasons for growth, stagnation or decline in arrivals is mostly reasoned by weather, politics (e.g Brexit) and special events (e.g UEFA World Cup 2018). One article mentions that experts forecast that international arrivals will total 500 million by 2030, with an annual increase rate of 2.6% (Drius et al, 2019). The same article continues with stating that Spain, France and Italy account for 60% of all arrivals in the area.

#### **Cruise tourism**

The Mediterranean scores as second biggest cruise region worldwide and it is still expanding (Pallis et al, 2018). Generally, marine tourism is the fastest growing segment of the tourism industry, meaning that vacations on cruise ships are trending amongst vacationists (Kizielewicz, 2013). The same article also mentions that the inactive vacation mostly involving lying at the beach is not preferred anymore. Potentially, this could be a problem for Mediterranean, however this area is also a very favorable sport for cruise tourism and is not as vulnerable to the masses of cruise tourists compressed in space and time as opposed to other vacation spots like the Caribbean (Brida & Aguirre, 2008). The shift to a more active vacation should not be a threat to the area, much more be favorable as it could lead to a spatial distribution of tourists.

Regarding cruise tourism in Spain, one article mentions that Malaga has a very developed cruise port, whereas the city of Seville has only started to develop as a cruise destination (Castillo-Manzano et al, 2015). The article by Castillo-Manzano also researched that cruise tourists tend to spend more than people on a Low-Cost vacation, showing a tendency towards the favorability of cruise tourism from an economic perspective. However, there is also a flip side to cruise tourism, as it is highly unsustainable regarding pollution and waste (Lamers et al, 2015). To be more precise, cruise ships are compared with cities when with respect to the amount of waste they produce, especially gray water and GHG emissions (Copeland, 2008). Many articles stress the high amounts of air pollution that cruise ships emit (Maragkogianni & Papaefthimiou, 2015; Dragovic et al, 2018). Highly contrasting to the negative effects of cruise tourism, other research showed the favorability of having private yachts and boats, which was not directly linked to the Mediterranean, but should be considered for this area as well. The accumulation of these boats lead to polluted and congested marinas, hindering natural water flow that is responsible for clean harbors (Davenport & Davenport, 2006). When looking past the economic advantages cruise tourism bring to a destination, one should consider the toll it takes on the climate, the high seasonality, and the congestion it can create during high season.

As a response to mass tourism, the concept of cultural tourism gained awareness and popularity since the 1990's (Jovivic, 2016). Cultural tourists have the characteristic of wanting to travel to come across new cultures and gain new knowledge about unfamiliar matters. Especially the search for authenticity is another point of motivation for cultural tourists (May, 1996). A niche that can be linked to this is pilgrimage tourism, which has been a recent development, now co-existing with mass tourism. It has been gaining more attention in recent years, as it shows the mix between pilgrims and tourists, merging both travel intentions into one trip (Collins-Kreiner, 2018). The article stresses the development of pilgrimage becoming increasingly linked to the more consumption oriented regular tourism, making it more mainstream. This trend could also be applicable to the Mediterranean, as places like Rome, the Way of St James in France and Spain and the Madonna del Ghisallo in Italy are popular pilgrimage spots and routes (Martin, 2011; Melczer, 1993).

Another current trend was identified by Richards, showing that not only foreign cultures are sought after to be explored, but also finding out about local cultures is increasing in popularity (Richards, 2007). Locals exploring their own country is the effect of this newer movement, being simultaneously sustainable regarding fewer emissions when travelling to the destination, as well as creating a positive impact on their destination, showing interest in the culture. One could argue whether one can use cultural tourism as a synonym for educational tourism, as both have the characteristic of wanting to learn more. Educational tourism is expected to rise in the future, due to the expanding older demographic that are willing and able to spend time and money on exploring new cultures while getting more educated (McGladdery & Lubbe, 2017). However, one could suggest that the growing older demographic can also cause more tourists in less sustainable sectors like cruise tourism. A more dated research mentioned that it is expected for seniors to experience countries like Spain and Italy as most favorable by 2050 (Schröder & Widmann, 2007). However, this research is based on expectations for German citizens. The article shows split argumentations for seniors wanting a more active or a more secure vacation in the future.

A link between cultural tourism and sustainability was identified, as the awareness and increased consciousness of one's surroundings can have a positive effect especially on the locals (Artal-Tur, 2018). Another advantage the demand for culture brings is the elevated focus on conservation and renovation of heritage, making the destinations more attractive (Zeayter & Mansour, 2018). The Mediterranean is especially very attractive for cultural tourism, as the countries within the area are very diverse and heterogenic (Lazzeretti et al, 2016). Though this has lead to complications in the past. Popular cities that have extensive cultural heritage like Barcelona or Rome, to name a few, face a tourist influx that is too

high, leading to "tourismphobia" from the side of the locals (García-Hernández et al, 2017; Zerva et al, 2018). This shows that culture and sustainability does not necessarily go hand in hand in already crowded and popular areas, proposing that changes in this niche need to be made in the future in order to better the effects culture has on the destination.

Signs of recognition that changed need to be made are found, as for instance the article by Jovicic which was initially mentioned in this paragraph discusses that cultural tourism is fueled by modern technology. Novel electric appliances provide extensive amount of information about (foreign) cultures, which raises more awareness and curiosity. This phenomenon shows several opportunities and threats, and may be linked to another trend that is talked about in scientific research, namely Smart tourism.

#### **Smart tourism**

Smart tourism shows the transition from conventional tourism to a more conscious and resourceful way of traveling (Gretzel et al, 2015). The incorporation of modern technology is what makes smart tourism safer and plannable compared to the absence of ICT (Fernandez-Anez et al, 2018). It is also regarded as a reaction to the global awareness of destinations that are increasingly wanted to be visited by more and more people. A general definition of the essence of smart tourism is found within the literature, which goes as follows:

"Simply taking a holistic, longer term and sustainable approach to planning, developing, operating and marketing tourism products and businesses" - (Phillips, 2000) on smart tourism (retrieved from Li et al, 2017)

The article by Gretzel et al shows that with help of internet-based provisioning of information for the supply side and the tourists, traveling should be perceived of higher quality for all stakeholders involved. The focus of making destinations and traveling more sustainable is one goal of smart tourism, making infrastructures as transparent as possible. Additionally, the facilitation of phone chargers, WIFI and apps is another point of action for smart tourism. Smart tourism is especially an improvement for very busy tourism destinations, meaning mainly urban areas are considered for modern implementations like the examples named before (Buhalis & Amaranggana, 2013). The city of Barcelona was also mentioned by the article as one of the cities in the Mediterranean area that is already aware of the usefulness of ICT to make tourism more sustainable. Not only specific cities should make use of smart tourism, but general agglomerations are in need of more sustainability with use of modern technology, which means the entire Mediterranean is addressed with this statement.

One interesting part of smart tourism is the use of Virtual Reality (VR) or Augmented Reality (AR) (Hunter et al, 2015). However, when thinking about the easy access people could have to this experience, one could discuss whether the demand for tourism would decrease because people are already satisfied with the VR experience that they get in their home area. On the other hand, one could suggest VR as an advanced marketing tool that could promote destinations even more vividly than through other media, meaning an increase in demand. This dilemma is also dealt with in one article, which also added the sustainability factor the possibility of experiencing tourism in VR gives (Tussyadiah, 2018). Smart tourism displays efforts that are made to create a better future for the tourism sector as an entity. Contrary to this positive development, other novel technologies are also increasing in popularity, including social media channels.

# The digital Age

Social media is an ever-present tool that is used by many millions of people every day (Boulianne, 2015, Sobaih et al, 2016). Not only every meal one consumes is frequently posted on these channels, but more importantly the places one visits when on vacation. One has not been anywhere unless it is shared online. This phenomenon is often referred to as "fear of missing out (FOMO)" (Blackwell et al, 2017). Sharing one's lives has become a competition, feeling the need to show every nice part one experience, one being vacations. FOMO leads to engaging in popular activities based on the fear of others enjoying life without you (Przybylski et al, 2013). One article states that the use of one's electronic devices on vacation negatively impacts the by Urry and Larsen coined term the tourist gaze (Urry & Larsen, 2011; Ayeh, 2018). The tourist gaze mainly stresses that everything the tourist experiences has an impact on their view on the destination. Therefore, the tourist gaze is impacted and compromised by the constant use of smart devices (Ayeh, 2018).

Social media is not only used to share one's touristic experiences, but also to search for potential vacation destinations by browsing through other people's accounts (Fatanti & Suyadnya, 2015). According to this article, this is especially true for Instagram. Social media is increasingly used for primary information on a destination, rather than official travel guides. This means that information is provided better, cheaper and easier than ever before, raising more awareness and ultimately, curiosity and desire for the destination.

The obsessive use of social media and smartphones is one trend that has been identified by many articles, however a development in the opposite direction was also found, which was coined as "digital detox" (e.g Hicks, 2019). Digital detox is often named in conjunction with tourism, as many people are found stressed out by work related use of mobile technology, needing a break to reload during their time off. Enjoying one's vacation

without digital appliances is also referred to as "digital-free tourism (DFT)" (Li et al, 2018). If one would link this trend to the theory of the tourist gaze, this would be very beneficial for the tourist's experience during their vacation. Looking past the devices tourists use when on vacation or when at home, it is important to assess which destinations are on trend to visit and which niches are currently growing.

#### **Urban tourism**

Next to cruise tourism, city/urban tourism is also one of the fastest growing markets worldwide (Bock, 2015). It additionally mentioned that cities can be a larger economic driver than a country as an entity (Postma et al, 2017). It has been identified that the Mediterranean needs additional attention when addressing urban tourism, as many cities are located on the coast, categorizing these places under "urban coastal tourism" (Bellini & Pasquinelli, 2017). Apart from the typical "sea, sun and sand" vacations, coastal cities additionally provide for cultural, culinary and many more interests and travel intentions, so Bellini and Pasquinelli. Therefore, these places are at an even higher risk of unsustainable practices, including congestion, extensive water use and waste production. Efforts are already being made to encourage local stakeholders to implement more sustainable aspects. What also needs to be mentioned when addressing urban tourism especially, is that plane trips provide for 70% of all damaging emissions within the tourism industry (Rico et al, 2019). Especially the trend of taking week-end trips is a large contributor to high levels of pollution (Rico, 2019). These types of trips are especially harmful for the environment, considering the emissions coming from the plane trips taken, compared to the short amount of time spent away.

Additionally, tourists that stay for a short time spend less at their destination and don't impact the destination as much as a tourist that stays for longer (Rodriguez et al, 2018). Even though the price for fossil fuel has been rising and consequently the prices for plane tickets are increasing, European tourists are not showing any relevant reaction to this change, remaining curios and motivated to visit new places for a couple of days. Cities located in the Mediterranean like Barcelona and Venice heavily suffer from the city-trip trend, whereas one study showed that a place that is not crowded is a less relevant factor for tourists. This study was undertaken in Barcelona, one of the busiest tourism destinations worldwide (Garín-Muñoz, 2017). Factors like value for money and restaurants were of highest importance to tourists. The extensive amount of diverse cultures and attractions found in cities is a very attractive selling point for tourists, especially since urban areas are very dense and countless attractions are fast to reach (Bock, 2015). Cities are shown to be vulnerable due to its high demand and dense attractions that cover countless

interests. Parallel to the urban tourism trend, the literature shows several niche markets as well, that will be addressed in the next paragraphs.

#### Sustainable tourism

Many niches, like cultural tourism and tourism that has implemented ICT, can indirectly fall into the category of sustainable tourism, though it should also be addressed as a separate trend, as more tourists consciously want to spend their holidays in a sustainable way (Mihalic, 2016). However, also the supply side of the tourism sector is showing efforts to create sustainable places to visit. Trying to combat the overuse of main land ecosystem services, large areas have been transformed into protected areas (Palomo et al, 2014). The advantage of making landscapes protected is the regulation of tourism, and with that increasing the sustainability of the leisure practices undertaken within the areas. Not only sustainability towards the climate but also the human resources are getting more awareness, as not only in developing countries, but also in Spain signs of community-based tourism are identified and being further developed (Ruiz-Ballesteros et al, 2016).

One more recent trend that is indirectly related to tourism is the inclusion of climate change adaptation in policy making agendas, with the goal of educating about climate change implications and potentially finding solutions (Harrison et al, 2013). This means that the increasing awareness of climate change could trigger a shift in travel behavior towards a more sustainable vacation, including the preference to not take the plane and rather stay closer to home, which in return would have an impact on many destinations including the Mediterranean. This shows also the demand side is encouraged to think about the environment and the implications the aspired trip could have on climate change.

This shift can be interpreted as a response to mass tourism, as when researching tourism trends, many case studies state that there is a shift from mass tourism to more diverse travel itineraries with an expansion of many niche markets (Dinis & Krakover, 2016).

Basic trips that merely incorporate going to the beach are declining and tourists start showing more interest in rural trips, activities and cultural tourism. Especially the latter has been repeatedly mentioned as a growing industry, with more tourists showing interest in learning about new cultures and their history. The trends that were discovered are also in favor of the Mediterranean, as the area has much to offer with regard of the new trends (Christou, 2012), including local foods, products and cultural heritage. Fortunately, sustainability is tackled separately, but is also recognizable in several niches, one of which, apart from the ones mentioned earlier, is rural tourism.

# **Rural tourism**

As a result of increasing awareness of the need to be sustainable, rural tourism has also gained in popularity. Rural tourism is leading to a decrease in seasonality, and often obtains tourists with higher spending power compared to beach tourists (Hernandez et al, 2016). One example is given in Montenegro, showing that rural tourism is very beneficial for the rural development (Čurović et al, 2019). This is caused by the spending power of tourists that does not stay within heavily visited places anymore. However, its neighboring country Serbia is said to not being able to profit from this trend, yet (Đenadić, 2016). Reason for this issue is the lacking financial and managerial resources to improve and promote the already existing natural prerequisites.

Not only in Serbia, but also other areas are at risk of abandonment due to, amongst other factors, the absence of tourism. One example is displayed by a rural area in northern Spain, showing the decrease in population due to unemployment (Vila Subirós et al, 2016). According to the article, this also has the effect of cultural heritage being lost due to neglect and deterioration. These examples show the mismatch between demand and potential supply, as this niche could be much more catered towards, granted better management and other resources.

Rural tourists like to experience unique landscapes, preferably different to their usual surroundings. Therefore, olive trees are one of the many assets of the Mediterranean landscape that attracts rural tourists. In fact, locally produced olive oil is a very valuable product that is commonly sold to rural tourists, which is also due to the increasing interest in high quality (Mediterranean) foods and delicacies (Hachem et al, 2016). Another article gives this phenomenon the name "olive oil tourism" (Arjona-Fuentes & Amador-Hidalgo, 2017), which shows that rural tourism goes hand in hand with gastronomic tourism. One interesting niche trend that is linked to this is the newly coined trend "mycotourism" (Büntgen et al, 2017). Mycotourism is defined by the practice of tourists travelling, in this case to Spain, to harvest mushrooms. This niche has the effect of giving attention to rural areas, giving them economic benefits, by also sustainably incorporating locals into the practice. Large potentials are identifiable within the area, though the demand cannot consistently be provided for due to various reasons, often being financial and managerial reasons.

Moving away from trends that are directly related to tourism, it is important to mention negative stressors on the industry. Terrorism is perceived as a highly significant threat to tourists (Walters & al, 2019). Safety is one of the determinants of selecting a vacation destination. Recent terrorist threats in Northern Africa lead to more people travelling to the Mediterranean instead, enforcing congestion and the before-mentioned tourism phobia (Coldwell, 2017). However, terrorist attacks have also occurred in Barcelona, which had, according to one research, high implications on the tourism sector (Coca-Stefaniak, 2018). Many articles contradict each other, as one research obtained that there was indeed a decrease in arrivals after a terrorist attack, however the industry did recover from that in a short period of time (Corbet et al, 2019). As terrorist attacks are as unpredictable as the reaction of tourists to it, it is difficult to conceptualize how the future of these destinations look like based on this phenomenon. Not only terrorism can have implications on tourism, but also the (perceived) quality of the destination's natural assets.

#### Tourism, the ecosystem and its services

Before continuing to implement the trends into the construction of Mediterranean SSP's, it is interesting to mention the impacts the consumption intensive tourism practices have the ecosystem and the services that they provide in the area. The tourism and leisure activities that are enjoyed by tourists and society lead to an abundance of exploitation of the ecosystem and the services it provides, especially along the coast line of the Mediterranean (Drius et al, 2019). Ecosystems in the marine area were divided into 4 functions it has by one article, giving it, amongst others, the function of being a cultural service (Salomon & Dahms, retrieved from Gössling et al, 2018). This service includes being aesthetically pleasing and being an important aspect for tourism and recreation. A direct impact of overuse and neglect of assessing the effects on the ecosystem puts this cultural service at risk, leading to a potential decrease of interest and popularity.

Other services that the marine and coastal environment provides is "Provisioning service" (fish, subsistence etc), "Regulating service" (Climatic regulations) and "Supporting service (Natural habitat) (Rodrigues et al, 2013).

Since there is awareness of the damaging effects that the sun can leave on humans, the use of sunscreen is especially high in the sunny Mediterranean area. Recent research has shown that some components in the sun blockers are very damaging to the sea and the organisms living in it, whereas traces of sunscreen were found in dolphins, mussels and other fish (Tovar-Sanchez et al, 2019). Especially because the Mediterranean basin only has a connection to the ocean via a small canal between Morocco and Spain, the pollution that is created is hard to get diluted.

A decreasing trend in the "natural capacity of the ecosystems to provide marine and coastal services" was identified by one research, that partially linked the deterioration to marine recreation (Liquete, 2016). It was stressed that especially the western part of the Mediterranean is affected by the exploitation of the ecosystem services, leaving the eastern part less damaged as of recent research. When regarding the fact that the western Mediterranean countries are most popular for tourism, one can discuss whether that is the link between the more serious deterioration in this area compared to the less visited eastern section.

One specific and important part of the ecosystem in the Mediterranean are coastal lagoons (Pérez-Ruzafa et al, 2011). They are a habitat for many organisms and species that cannot survive in other aquatic areas, which makes these areas especially vulnerable. These spots are in interest of many stakeholders, including tourists, anglers and stakeholders that want to build urban space around it. Lacking management is increasingly leading to over-exploitation of its ecosystem service, which is mostly due to tourism and fishing.

The globally increasing Co2 levels also show its effects in the Mediterranean basin. The pollution leads to ocean acidification, which has massive effects on the ecosystem, especially for the species living in it. (Rodrigues et al, 2013). This regulating service that the ecosystem provides is at risk of being severely damaged, creating strong impacts on the tourism sector. Due to ocean acidification, recreational swimming and diving may be compromised, as for example the coral reefs are more vulnerable and the water quality declines. One serious health threat that is caused by these changes within the marine ecosystem is the outbreak of jellyfish (Ghermandi, 2015). A link between ocean acidification, nitrogen pollution and other unnatural phenomena occurring in the water and the numerous jellyfish outbreaks was identified. For tourists, this can be a serious threat that is occurring along the entire Mediterranean coast.

One article showed the increased risk of flooding along the European shores (Vousdoukas et al, 2018). Due to the rapid sea level rise, the coastal areas of Europe are at risk of being flooded, especially because dikes cannot support the increasing amount of water. Though the article states the reason for this being climate change, tourism is not named as one of the causes. However, other sources claim to confirm that tourism is one of the main drivers of climate change (Becken, 2004).

Not only the aquatic ecosystems are being closely monitored due to increasing vulnerability, but also the main land causes concerns. As rural tourism is rising as well, the landscape aesthetics are of increasing importance (Palahi et al, 2008). However, the unsustainable use of this ecosystem service is highly questioned, as the disrespectful use

of the landscape is a common problem. Additionally, climate change increases the risk of forest fires and degradation, as well as deforestation undertaken by several stakeholders. Lastly, the air quality is scrutinized by many factors, some of which include emissions, pollution etc. In the Mediterranean, the intense build-up of ozone along the coast line leads to considerable amounts of smog, especially during the warmer months (Finardi et al, 2018). Many different ecosystems around the Mediterranean are vulnerable to the impacts of tourism, which has become evident based on the extensive research that has been done on this topic in a variety of different ecosystems. Managing the resilience of the ecosystems is of great concern for the areas to stay capable of providing any ecosystem service (Lacitignola, 2007).

When looking at the tourism trends that have been identified, one can attempt to address both the third and the fourth research question, by selecting the SSP's that will be used and then matching the trends to the scenarios. While obtaining an insight on the trends, it has become clear that some of the trends are very contradicting, showing very diverse developments in the industry. It has also become evident that one cannot generalize all trends into one direction, giving more reason and need to make different scenarios.

# Choice of SSP's

For the third research question, one can critically evaluate which SSP's are most suitable for the scenarios that will be made within this research. Since the trends are so diverse and polarizing, it would be best fitting to develop SSP's from "We are the world" and "Fossil-fueled development". Due to their high contrast in outcomes within their stories, the span of possible futures for the Mediterranean will become evident, especially when comparing the two SSP's later in the discussion. The following section will portray a short paraphrased description of the relevant Eur-SSP'S made by Kok et al.

## Eur-SSP1 (We are the world)

The first narrative describes a future that due to economic and environmental issues a movement of sustainable solutions is introduced that also meets some efforts that the sustainable development goals (SDG) describe. Governments have a high stake in steering society in a green direction with policies that are favorable for everybody economically and socially. Essentially, economic growth is not the focus within this SSP, however a controlled and slow but sustainable growth is aspired with the welfare of the environment being in the forefront. Society is rather peaceful and political issues are not very common anymore.

# Eur-SSP5 (Fossil-fueled development)

The storyline of SSP5 tells a story that is entirely opposite from the all positive SSP1. The most important aspect to society is the performance of the economy, whereas climate change is not cared about. Awareness about the impacts on of the destructive practices people make on the environment is not spread and education on it is not on the agenda either. The narrative also stresses the high level of innovation in the technology sector, however they are not used to increase sustainability. The main characteristic of this narrative is the environmental destruction that occurs at the expense of a growing and thriving economy.

One also needs to stress why the remaining SSP's are less suitable for this research. SSP3 can be argued as unsuitable as it stresses more the political imbalance and a breakdown of the EU into fragmented areas, which signs were not detected within the trends that were found. It does however mention failures of the ecosystem, which were also found in the results, however, according to SSP3, the origin of the failure is the recovery of the economy, whereas a dip in the economy would not be a logic assumption to make based on the trends that shows a rising economy without major complications or problems. SSP4 does not identify as suitable for the Mediterranean scenarios either, as this narrative deals with dispersed power to only a small group and large civilizations suffering from insufficient development. When one regards the fact that beach and cruise tourism has been popular for many decades, one could discuss the power distribution over the stakeholders of this sector, and the neglect of rural citizens, operators and niche markets. However, this SSP also stresses the combination of this phenomenon with the sustainable development of technology, which is a link that was not found within the trends, but only as separate factors. SSP4 also mentions decrease in fuel prices, which would not be a useful assumption to make, as some source state the opposite as of currently.

With the Eur-SSP's now explained more in detail, SSP1 & SSP5 will act as guideline for the storylines that will be written for the Mediterranean. They describe the possible situations of the Mediterranean area in the year 2100. The development of the trends that were identified will be shown combined with the impacts that they left behind in the area and the sector.

## Matching the trends to the SSP's

Based on the argumentation on the choice of which SSP's to utilize, one can link the trends to the SSP's, addressing the third research question. SSP 1 is characterized by displaying a purely positive future, with heavy stress on sustainability, purposeful use of technological innovation and less market oriented economic decisions (O'Neill, 2014). Having this in mind, all trends that were linked to conscious consumption can be linked to the first SSP, being the following trends: Sustainable tourism, Cultural tourism, Smart tourism & Rural tourism. These trends promise the ethical use of resources, being not only sustainable towards the environment, but also the locals living in the area of interest. The show large growth in popularity, and high potential on the supply side. The literature displayed the efforts that are made to implement modern technologies to alleviate tourism dense areas from the issues they bring, like congestion and pollution, making it an excellent trend to be used in SSP1.

SSP5 defines a consumption intensive outlook, showing no sustainable improvements at all. Some scenarios also incorporate political conflicts, which will be considered for these scenarios as well. The trends of cruise tourism and the non-purposeful use of modern technologies are fitting into this SSP, as they exemplify high consumption levels with only low levels of positive impacts on the local communities and the environment. Terrorist threats may be used as well, though their long-term impacts are uncertain and may not be significant on the long run. The general trends of increasing arrivals will be fitting for this scenario, as well as the deterioration of the ecosystems due to climate change, which is in turn fueled by tourism. Terrorism and urban tourism will play a role in this scenario as well, as terrorist threats in areas outside the Mediterranean may lead to a higher tourist influx within the area. All trends show flip sides to them, meaning that they can have diverse outcomes on the future, and their probability of growth is not necessarily certain.

Table 2 summarises the trends and how they were matched to the SSP's.

SSP1	SSP5
Sustainable tourism	Cruise tourism
Cultural tourism	Political conflicts
Smart tourism	Irresponsible use of technology
Rural tourism	Beach & City tourism
	Neglect of the ecosystem

table 2
With both the third and fourth research question now addressed, one can continue with writing the narratives for tourism in the Mediterranean.

Regarding the fifth research question, one can now write the narratives, using the trends that were matched to the relevant SSP's.

## **Mediterranean-SSP1: Climate Changed**

By 2100, tourism arrivals will be stagnant, with a decreasing trend. This is due to the awareness of the impacts travelling has on the environment, combined with the increasing popularity of other destinations. The eastern Mediterranean areas will be fashionable, having successfully alleviated the congested western Mediterranean areas, including Spain, Italy and southern France. Sustainable tourism has become mainstream, leaving mass tourism and the problems it gave in the past. Countries have invested in the education of the citizens about the impacts of climate change, leading to an overall awareness and policies steering towards green behavior.

Cities and other hotspots will have implemented technologies that monitor the use of infrastructure. Services like artificial intelligence are used to guide people through their destination, and it simultaneously decreases the risk of congestion. Therefore, modern technologies will tackle heavily visited areas and alleviate them from tourist masses. This will lead to more satisfaction of the tourist experience, but also make the habitat of the locals a comfortable living space again. Alternatives like VR-experiences will give potential travelers a more sustainable and affordable option to see new places. These experiences will be highly advanced by 2070, giving an incredibly realistic feeling.

Another effect that this transition will bring is cities losing their reputation of being too popular and full. When regarding places like Barcelona or Venice, they will no longer strike the front-page of newspapers with locals demonstrating against the massive tourist influxes, which were especially caused by cruise ships and week-end travelers.

More attention has been brought to areas outside the usual hotspots in the area, leading to an even distribution of tourists over the entire Mediterranean. The sustainable and conscious use of (social) media is reason for spreading the trend of wanting to explore beyond the beaten path, gaining new knowledge during your trip. The problem of seasonality will be largely alleviated by people not valuing the favorable temperature for lying at the beach as much anymore. The ageing population has its effects on the area as well. Though this demographic is growing largely, their travel intentions are sustainable and focused on moderate activity, gaining knowledge with an intermediate price tag. Overall, their travel and spending behavior is sustainable and impactful for people and culture.

Due to increasing awareness of the harmful effects of the sun on the body, beach vacations are less desirable and more active holidays are preferred, which ties in with the popularity of unconventional destinations within and outside the Mediterranean. This transition also affects cultural tourism, with more sustainable spending on locally produced products, souvenirs and services that locals directly profit from. Cultural activities will include discovering local food, drinks and delicacies, next to the discovery of natural assets that have been protected by transforming them into National parks. The cultural assets of the Mediterranean will catch more interest, which will lead to investment in restauration of cultural heritage sites. People are in more need than ever to be disconnected from the internet for a while, leaving them more aware of their surroundings and appreciative of the landscape. This former niche is now more in the spotlight and is high on people's travel itinerary. Therefore, pilgrimage is also an increasing focus of tourist's travel intentions, giving them the feeling of relaxation, empowerment and presence. Spots like Santiago de Compostela will not only see foreign faces, but also (Spanish) residents will visit these places, as staying close to one's home is an increasingly popular way of spending time off. Locals spending time close to their habitat does of course not only have an effect on pilgrimage tourism, but also urban and cultural tourism.

This development overall will be a high contrast to the former spending behavior, which used to be characterized by expenditures that were mostly profited from by foreign owned tour operators and stakeholders. Since climate change is in the process of being successfully tackled, the weather conditions stay desirable for spending the leisure time at the Mediterranean. The trend of weather globally getting too hot is not of concern anymore. Reasons for the management of climate change include the stricter policies for transportation, leading to more conscious use of infrastructure on land as well as in the air. The oil prices that have increased are handled by tourists being more careful about their travel decisions, leaving the airline industry more sustainable and less damaging to the climate. Big changes have been made when comparing the situation of 2100 with now, showing the potential the current trends can have on the future.

When looking at the Mediterranean in 2100, the coasts are filled with cruise ships, private yachts and boats, with sea water being irreversibly harmed by pollution coming from the ships. The growing older demographic is invading the area in the way that they lazily relax on the cruise decks, beaches or water-intensive pool sides. Due to the excessive CO2 emissions, overfishing and water not being able to move freely anymore, the sea is far from being a healthy living space for marine species. The loss of species leads to the ecosystem losing many of its services. Floods are more common than ever, being a reaction of global warming, compromising the safety of being on the beach. The sea water is not enjoyable to tourists, as the water is highly littered and assets such as coral reefs have become extinct. A stop or an intervention to these phenomena is not in sight, as these areas are still the most popular to tourists and therefore most profitable for stakeholders. Hence, the summers are still left with packed beaches with people that can hardly enjoy the place due to lack of personal space. Jellyfish plagues are very present, but does not stop tourists from overthinking their itineraries and still go to the beach. Natural resources are exploited, and water provisioning is scarce.

Rural areas are empty, and locals living at the countryside suffer from low employment. As more job offers are at the tourist hotspots, many locals migrate away from the countryside, leading to a massive gap in welfare and living quality between urban/ beach areas and the rural spaces. Also, due to high seasonality of beach and cruise tourism, all workers in these industries suffer from low employment in the colder seasons. Favorable political conditions in target and destination countries lead to boundary-less travelling. Terrorist threats are still existent, though they do not lead to long term damage of demand for the area. Not only the shores, but also the cities still experience extreme tourist influxes, and crowding is unbearable for locals and tourists. Taking short trips during weekends remains highly popular, with an advanced airline infrastructure, having every city on the map for people to travel to, from every low-cost airport directly. The urban areas profit economically from this situation, though the money is not spent on restauration or maintenance of cultural assets, but is kept in the hotspots, to fulfill the wants and needs of the consumptive tourist type that is visiting

The low-cost airlines are ruling the aviation sector with the effect of skyrocketing the CO2 emissions, fueling climate change. People do not care about their unconscious travel behavior and like to spend their disposable income on filling their passport, for reasons of personal development and status. The desire of sharing activities online has the effect that tourists live through their phone and not in the moment. People are constantly sharing

their activities on platforms like Instagram or another platform that will be popular in the future, to stay relevant among their friends, family and acquaintances online. New technologies are not used for productive and impactful reasons, but only to satisfy one's own desires and urges. Virtual reality modules have the effect of being a much too well performing marketing tool for destinations, curbing demand even further. The tourist's destination is not genuinely enjoyed and appreciated, leaving only traces of consumption behind without any positive contribution. The sky is heavily polluted, ruining the aesthetic of people's Instagram pictures. The spirit of the area has been destroyed, existing only for profit and consumption. The impacts of many of the current trends can have this highly destructive effect on humans, animals, the ecosystem and the climate. The big issue is that everybody has entertainment at their fingertips, which is caused by the maximization of globalization, lacking education on climate change and using technology for less necessary reasons.

## **Discussion**

The SSP's that have been created show very different outcomes for the future of the Mediterranean area, reason being the very different developments that are occurring in the area of interest. Numerous trends have been identified within the literature, whereas many arguments for both scenarios were found. Many sources contradict each other, showing the parallel socio-economic developments that are occurring. In the beginning of the results paragraph, a short overview of general trends (Buckley et al, 2014) was mentioned. When comparing this overview with the self-identified trends, one can observe some similarities, but also some differences. These general trends (climate change, fuel prices, new tech, BRIC countries, political conflict, conservation & tourism) were found in this thesis to some extent, as sustainable tourism, new technologies, and climate change are all topics that were shown to be relevant for the Mediterranean. Political conflicts were touched upon as well within this thesis, though the incorporation of these into long term scenarios is difficult, due to their unpredictability (Bak, 2016). The increasing prices of fuel were identified as well, though the effects of this trend on tourism behavior is still to be determined. Lastly, the rise of the BRIC countries was not found to be of high importance for the area, though one could argue that these countries could become a target market in the future due to their increasing welfare, and with that increasing disposable income.

When investigating literature that has undertaken similar efforts by creating scenarios for tourism, one can identify that scenarios are made for very specific goals, including case studies in different tourism related settings. The article that had the most similar approach to this thesis concluded that climate change will have a long-term damaging effect on the attractiveness of the destinations (Koutroulis, 2018). Within this thesis, the way climate change is perceived becomes evident in SSP5, being that tourists still visit and overpopulate the area. However, Koutroulis also mentioned the high tolerance of warm temperatures that tourists tend to show, which is a statement that is fitting to SSP5. The uncertainty factor is the motivation of many papers on scenarios, and some findings made within this thesis cohere with other literature, like the misuse of modern technology and the vulnerability of the climate. What was also confirmed by this research is the need to implement sustainability into the tourism sector, as suggested by Gössling (2014). Overall, this study shows many similarities regarding the findings, however the way these are interpreted can differ.

One can now move on, comparing the two SSP's that have been created. The first SSP does not show any negative aspects for tourism in the Mediterranean. It assumes that tourists are evenly distributed among the entire space and that culture and sustainability are on top of tourists' and stakeholders' agendas. Modern technologies serve as a tool for

alleviating congestion and to create green cities. Contrary to that, personal technological devices will be less popular, especially regarding their use on days off. Tourists appreciate their surroundings and try to be as present in the moment as possible. The tourist gaze leaves a very positive impression on the travelers, leaving its full effect due to the undivided attention they give to their foreign environment. Economic stability has been achieved throughout rural and coastal areas. SSP1 shows that it is possible to achieve a positive future for tourism in the Mediterranean based on some of the current trends and practices that are being adopted. In the introduction of this thesis it was mentioned that implementation of sustainability would be the only way to create a positive future for tourism (Gössling, 2010). Aspects of SSP1 are clearly coherent with this statement, showing the positive impacts new technologies have on the sustainability of popular tourist areas. The narrative of SSP 5 is contradicting to SSP 1 in all respects. Modern technologies are only relevant for personal use, leading to a highly consumptive and unsustainable tourist destination. The profits that are made from the industry only stay at the tourist hotspots, being the beaches and the urban areas. Cultural heritage is neglected and not maintained, as tourists do not show any interest in it.

The SSP's show that if the negative trends occurring right now are not changed into a positive direction, a negative and destructive future for the Mediterranean is feasible, maybe even inevitable. The lacking management for attaining sustainable policies and practices show how the situation can go out of hand and make irreversible damage. The vulnerability of the area remains unrecognized.

Limitations 39

Making scenarios is partially a personal reflection of how one evaluates trends and their possible implications. The incorporation of extensive amount of literature helps to substantiate one's assumptions, though it remains hypothetical. The formulation of the scenarios is subjective to how one interprets the trends found in the literature, meaning that it is difficult to make unbiased and strictly objective scenarios. Scenarios are solely useful for reference and visualization of possibilities for the future of tourism in the Mediterranean. Many trends are recognized that could steer the development into one direction or the other, however it is unknown whether these trends will live on in the near or distant future. The list of trends is not exhaustive, leaving the possibility of potentially important trends to be left out. The selection of trends within the research is based on personal evaluation of its importance.

It was decided to limit the amount of SSP's to merely two, which was done so due to the highly contradictive nature of the trends. However, this may portray a limitation to this research, as the feasibility of making more SSP's was not denied. Efforts have been made to use recent data, however this is not constantly feasible. The research that is being done on tourism is constant, with many different assumptions made. Therefore, the scenarios that were made within this research are a snapshot of current trends and thoughts on tourism. This is especially true for political concerns, as they often are unpredictable and sudden, which is one of the reasons why their relevance is unknown for the future.

The use of several general tourism trends obtains the limitation that these are not specific or not applicable to the Mediterranean. The year 2100 was adopted from the research on Eur-SSP's, though it is unclear if the identified trends have a lifespan that can reach that far into the future.

## Suggestions for further research

For further research, one can suggest using the SSP's that have been made for comparison, seeing if trends have changed or whether they have stayed similar with similar future directions. Using this thesis to compare other tourist destinations can help with assessing their futures as well. The area that was selected for this research is large, giving the suggestion that one can narrow these scenarios down to a smaller area or country. Many sources used Spain as a place that is especially uncertain and in need of better management and sustainability, which gives the opportunity to make SSP's specifically for Spain.

To make the scenarios more specific, one could monitor the trends for a longer period, to have a more in-depth analysis of their development. By doing so, one could identify more trends that could also fit in SSP's other than SSP1 or SSP5. Using the same objective one could also attempt using the quantitative approach and compare the outcomes and assess if they differ largely from each other. One could also attempt to use different methods on obtaining information on the tourism trends, like interviewing stakeholders within the area and tourists from the target countries.

## **Conclusion**

This thesis has attempted to assess different futures for tourism in the Mediterranean by constructing SSP narratives, using Eur-SSP's as the boundary framework. Many trends were found, giving much input to the narratives that were written, making them very expressive and imaginative. The research was faced with the difficulty of making assumptions for the future of tourism in the Mediterranean, reason being the unpredictability of the development of trends. Many socio-economic factors and trends play a role in travel decision and behavior, alongside the development of climate change, of which the level of impact is still not entirely certain. What has become clear is the fact that the future for the area can develop into two entirely different directions, depending on how the trends will further develop in the future. SSP1 shows that the future for tourism in the Mediterranean could develop into a green, sustainable and safe environment for nature, tourists and locals, with a positive attitude towards smart use of modern technology. SSP5 shows the entire opposite, with a future that could be irreversibly harmful for nature and the climate, irresponsible use of ecosystem services, and unequal distribution of capital earned from the tourism industry. The coexistence of diverse trends is especially evident within this thesis, showing the feasibility of developments going into highly contrasting and contradicting directions. Trends like cultural tourism, smart tourism, rural tourism and more show the initiative that sustainable tourism practices are possible. Though cruise tourism, extensive use of mobile devices, and the general degradation of the ecosystem linked to tourism also take place simultaneously.

This thesis lays bare the enormity of current harmful and irresponsible practices, and especially use SSP5 as an alarm sign. However, this research also underlines the positive actions that are developing, giving hope and motivation for people who may be in disbelief that a green future is possible or very difficult to obtain. The SSP framework has shown to be very adaptable to different fields of research, including tourism. The narratives that are written with the method of using SSP's provides a clear message and is

uncomplicated to understand, which makes the meaning of the possible diverse impacts for Mediterranean tourism even clearer.

As final remark, tourism is a sector which success and development depends on many factors, involving a broad spectrum of different stakeholders. The adequate and careful management of tourism is of high importance, which is a core message that this thesis has attempted to spread. The uncertainty of tourism is a topic that one needs to become more aware of, as travelling and being a tourist affects the vast majority of the world population. The results should be a motivation for people to believe in the possibility of achieving a sustainable future for tourism. It is possible if one keeps developing and practicing the positive trends.

42

Absar, S. M., & Preston, B. L. (2015). Extending the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways for sub-national impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability studies. Global Environmental Change, 33, 83-96.

Amelung, B., & Viner, D. (2006). Mediterranean tourism: exploring the future with the tourism climatic index. Journal of sustainable tourism, 14(4), 349-366.

Amengual, A., Homar, V., Romero, R., Ramis, C., & Alonso, S. (2014). Projections for the 21st century of the climate potential for beach-based tourism in the Mediterranean. *International Journal of Climatology*, 34(13), 3481-3498.

Arjona-Fuentes, J. M., & Amador-Hidalgo, L. (2017). Olive oil tourism: Promoting rural development in Andalusia (Spain). Tourism Management Perspectives, 21, 100-108.

Artal-Tur, A., Briones-Peñalver, A. J., & Villena-Navarro, M. (2018). Tourism, cultural activities and sustainability in the Spanish Mediterranean regions: a probit approach. Tourism & Management Studies, 14(1), 7-18.

Ayeh, J. K. (2018). Distracted gaze: Problematic use of mobile technologies in vacation contexts. Tourism management perspectives, 26, 31-38.

Bak, D. (2016). Political investment cycles in democracies and autocracies. International Interactions, 42(5), 797-819

Becken, S. (2004). How tourists and tourism experts perceive climate change and carbon-offsetting schemes. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 12(4), 332-345.

Bellini, N., & Pasquinelli, C. (2017). Tourism in the City (No. DEMO-BOOK-2018-055). Springer International Publishing.

Blackwell, D., Leaman, C., Tramposch, R., Osborne, C., & Liss, M. (2017). Extraversion, neuroticism, attachment style and fear of missing out as predictors of social media use and addiction. Personality and Individual Differences, 116, 69-72.

Brida, J. G., & Aguirre, S. Z. (2008). The impacts of the cruise industry on tourism destinations. Sustainable tourism as a factor of local development, 7-9.

Boavida-Portugal, I., Rocha, J., & Ferreira, C. C. (2016). Exploring the impacts of future tourism development on land use/cover changes. Applied Geography, 77, 82-91.

Bock, K. (2015). The changing nature of city tourism and its possible implications for the future of cities. European Journal of Futures Research, 3(1), 20.

Boulianne, S. (2015). Social media use and participation: A meta-analysis of current research. Information, communication & society, 18(5), 524-538.

Buckley, R., Gretzel, U., Scott, D., Weaver, D., & Becken, S. (2015). Tourism megatrends. Tourism Recreation Research, 40(1), 59-70.

Buhalis, D., & Amaranggana, A. (2013). Smart tourism destinations. In Information and communication technologies in tourism 2014 (pp. 553-564). Springer, Cham.

Bunn, D. W., & Salo, A. A. (1993). Forecasting with scenarios. European Journal of Operational Research, 68(3), 291-303.

Büntgen, U., Latorre, J., Egli, S., & Martínez-Peña, F. (2017). Socio-economic, scientific, and political benefits of mycotourism. Ecosphere, 8(7).

Cantos, J. O., & Rebollo, F. V. (2016). Climate change and tourism policy in Spain: Diagnosis in the Spanish Mediterranean coast. Cuadernos de Turismo, (38), 565.

Castillo-Manzano, J. I., Lopez-Valpuesta, L., & Alanís, F. J. (2015). Tourism managers' view of the economic impact of cruise traffic: the case of southern Spain. Current Issues in Tourism, 18(7), 701-705.

Cervero, R. (2003). Road expansion, urban growth, and induced travel: A path analysis. Journal of the American Planning Association, 69(2), 145-163.

Christou, L. (2012). Is it possible to combine mass tourism with alternative forms of tourism: The case of Spain, Greece, Slovenia and Croatia. Journal of Business Administration Online, 11(1), 1-8.

Cirer-Costa, J. C. (2017). Turbulence in Mediterranean tourism. Tourism management perspectives, 22, 27-33.

Coca-Stefaniak, A., & Morrison, A. M. (2018). City tourism destinations and terrorism-a worrying trend for now, but could it get worse?. International Journal of Tourism Cities, 4(4), 409-412.

Coldwell, W. (2017). First Venice and Barcelona: now anti-tourism marches spread across Europe. The Guardian, 10, 2017.

Collins-Kreiner, N. (2018). Pilgrimage-Tourism: Common Themes in Different Religions. International Journal of Religious Tourism and Pilgrimage, 6(1), 3.

Conway, D., & Timms, B. F. (2010). Re-branding alternative tourism in the Caribbean: The case for 'slow tourism'. Tourism and hospitality research, 10(4), 329-344.

Copeland, C. (2008). Cruise ship pollution: Background, laws and regulations, and key issues. Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service.

Corbet, S., O'Connell, J. F., Efthymiou, M., Guiomard, C., & Lucey, B. (2019). The impact of terrorism on European tourism. Annals of Tourism Research, 75, 1-17.

Čurović, Ž., Čurović, M., Spalević, V., Janic, M., Sestras, P., & Popović, S. G. (2019). Identification and Evaluation of Landscape as a Precondition for Planning Revitalization and Development of Mediterranean Rural Settlements—Case Study: Mrkovi Village, Bay of Kotor, Montenegro. Sustainability, 11(7), 2039.

Davenport, J., & Davenport, J. L. (2006). The impact of tourism and personal leisure transport on coastal environments: a review. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 67(1-2), 280-292.

Đenadić, M., Muhi, B., & Jovanović, D. V. (2016). Rural tourism-Serbia's missed chance. Economics of Agriculture, 63(2), 515-529.

Dinis, A., & Krakover, S. (2016). Niche tourism in small peripheral towns: The case of Jewish heritage in Belmonte, Portugal. Tourism Planning & Development, 13(3), 310-332.

Dragović, B., Tzannatos, E., Tselentis, V., Meštrović, R., & Škurić, M. (2018). Ship emissions and their externalities in cruise ports. Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 61, 289-300.

Drius, M., Bongiorni, L., Depellegrin, D., Menegon, S., Pugnetti, A., & Stifter, S. (2019). Tackling challenges for Mediterranean sustainable coastal tourism: An ecosystem service perspective. Science of The Total Environment, 652, 1302-1317.

Ebi, K. L., Hallegatte, S., Kram, T., Arnell, N. W., Carter, T. R., Edmonds, J., ... & Winkler, H. (2014). A new scenario framework for climate change research: background, process, and future directions. Climatic Change, 122(3), 363-372.

Estrela, T., Pérez-Martin, M. A., & Vargas, E. (2012). Impacts of climate change on water resources in Spain. Hydrological Sciences Journal, 57(6), 1154-1167.

Fatanti, M. N., & Suyadnya, I. W. (2015). Beyond User Gaze: How Instagram Creates Tourism Destination Brand?. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 211, 1089-1095.

Farsari, Y., & Prastacos, P. (2001). Sustainable tourism indicators for Mediterranean established destinations. Tourism Today, 1(1), 103-121.

Fennell, D. A., & Malloy, D. C. (1999). Measuring the ethical nature of tourism operators. Annals of Tourism Research, 26(4), 928-943.

Fernandez-Anez, V., Velazquez, G., Perez-Prada, F., & Monzón, A. (2018). Smart City Projects Assessment Matrix: Connecting Challenges and Actions in the Mediterranean Region. Journal of Urban Technology, 1-25.

Finardi, S., Agrillo, G., Baraldi, R., Calori, G., Carlucci, P., Ciccioli, P., ... & Radice, P. (2018). Atmospheric Dynamics and Ozone Cycle during Sea Breeze in a Mediterranean Complex Urbanized Coastal Site. Journal of Applied Meteorology and Climatology, 57(5), 1083-1099.

Frame, B., Lawrence, J., Ausseil, A. G., Reisinger, A., & Daigneault, A. (2018). Adapting global shared socio-economic pathways for national and local scenarios. Climate Risk Management, 21, 39-51.

Garay, L., & Cánoves, G. (2011). Life cycles, stages and tourism history: The Catalonia (Spain) experience. Annals of Tourism Research, 38(2), 651-671.

García-Ayllón, S. (2018). Retro-diagnosis methodology for land consumption analysis towards sustainable future scenarios: Application to a mediterranean coastal area. Journal of cleaner production, 195, 1408-1421.

García-Hernández, M., de la Calle-Vaquero, M., & Yubero, C. (2017). Cultural heritage and urban tourism: Historic city centres under pressure. Sustainability, 9(8), 1346.

Garín-Muñoz, T., & Moral, M. J. (2017). Determinants of satisfaction with an urban tourism destination: The case of Barcelona. Journal of Reviews on Global Economics, 6, 113-128.

Ghermandi, A., Galil, B., Gowdy, J., & Nunes, P. A. (2015). Jellyfish outbreak impacts on recreation in the Mediterranean Sea: welfare estimates from a socioeconomic pilot survey in Israel. Ecosystem services, 11, 140-147.

Gómez-Martín, M. B., Armesto-López, X., & Amelung, B. (2016). Tourism, climate change and the mass media: the representation of the issue in Spain. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 19(2), 174-198

Gössling, S., Hall, C. M., Peeters, P., & Scott, D. (2010). The future of tourism: Can tourism growth and climate policy be reconciled? A mitigation perspective. Tourism Recreation Research, 35(2), 119-130.

Gössling, S., Hall, C. M., & Scott, D. (2018). Coastal and ocean tourism. In Handbook on Marine Environment Protection (pp. 773-790). Springer, Cham.

Gössling, S., Hansson, C. B., Hörstmeier, O., & Saggel, S. (2002). Ecological footprint analysis as a tool to assess tourism sustainability. Ecological economics, 43(2-3), 199-211.

Gössling, S., & Scott, D. (2012). Scenario planning for sustainable tourism: an introduction. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 20(6), 773-778.

Gretzel, U., Sigala, M., Xiang, Z., & Koo, C. (2015). Smart tourism: foundations and developments. Electronic Markets, 25(3), 179-188.

Griggs, D. J., & Noguer, M. (2002). Climate change 2001: the scientific basis. Contribution of working group I to the third assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Weather, 57(8), 267-269.

Hachem, F., Capone, R., Yannakoulia, M., Dernini, S., Hwalla, N., & Kalaitzidis, C. (2016). The Mediterranean diet: a sustainable consumption pattern. Mediterra 2016. Zero Waste in the Mediterranean. Natural Resources, Food and Knowledge/International Centre for Advanced Mediterranean Agronomic Studies (CIHEAM) and Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO)-Paris: Presses de Sciences Po, 2016., 243.

Hall, C. M., Amelung, B., Cohen, S., Eijgelaar, E., Gössling, S., Higham, J., ... & Scott, D. (2015). On climate change skepticism and denial in tourism. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 23(1), 4-25.

Harrison, P. A., Holman, I. P., & Berry, P. M. (2015). Assessing cross-sectoral climate change impacts, vulnerability and adaptation: an introduction to the CLIMSAVE project.

Harrison, P. A., Holman, I. P., Cojocaru, G., Kok, K., Kontogianni, A., Metzger, M. J., & Gramberger, M. (2013). Combining qualitative and quantitative understanding for exploring cross-sectoral climate change impacts, adaptation and vulnerability in Europe. Regional Environmental Change, 13(4), 761-780.

Hasegawa, T., Fujimori, S., Takahashi, K., & Masui, T. (2015). Scenarios for the risk of hunger in the twenty-first century using Shared Socioeconomic Pathways. Environmental Research Letters, 10(1), 014010.

Hicks, T. M. (2019). Digital Detox-Addressing the Issue of Screen Addiction in Millennials.

Houghton, J. T., Ding, Y. D. J. G., Griggs, D. J., Noguer, M., van der Linden, P. J., Dai, X., ... & Johnson, C. A. (2001). Climate change 2001: the scientific basis. The Press Syndicate of the University of Cambridge.

Hunter, W. C., Chung, N., Gretzel, U., & Koo, C. (2015). Constructivist research in smart tourism. Asia Pacific Journal of Information Systems, 25(1), 105-120.

Ionita, M. (2018). The influence of oil price in Spanish and European tourism.

Jacobsen, J. K. S., Skogheim, R., & Dann, G. M. (2015). Sun, sea, sociability, and sightseeing: Mediterranean summer holidaymaking revisited. *Anatolia*, 26(2), 186-199.

Jiang, L., & O'Neill, B. C. (2017). Global urbanization projections for the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways. Global Environmental Change, 42, 193-199.

Jones, B., & O'Neill, B. C. (2016). Spatially explicit global population scenarios consistent with the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways. Environmental Research Letters, 11(8), 084003.

Jovicic, D. (2016). Cultural tourism in the context of relations between mass and alternative tourism. Current Issues in Tourism, 19(6), 605-612.

Kizielewicz, J. (2013). Theme cruises, as a trend in marine tourism. Zeszyty Naukowe/Akademia Morska w Szczecinie, (33 (105)), 30-39.

Kok, K., Pedde, S., Gramberger, M., Harrison, P. A., & Holman, I. P. (2018). New European socio-economic scenarios for climate change research: operationalising concepts to extend the shared socio-economic pathways. Regional Environmental Change, 1-12.

Kok, K., Rothman, D. S., & Patel, M. (2006). Multi-scale narratives from an IA perspective: Part I. European and Mediterranean scenario development. Futures, 38(3), 261-284.

Kosow, H., & Gaßner, R. (2008). Methods of future and scenario analysis: overview, assessment, and selection criteria (Vol. 39, p. 133). Deutschland.

Koutroulis, A. G., Grillakis, M. G., Tsanis, I. K., & Jacob, D. (2018). Mapping the vulnerability of European summer tourism under 2° C global warming. Climatic Change, 151(2), 157-171.

Kriegler, E., O'Neill, B. C., Hallegatte, S., Kram, T., Lempert, R. J., Moss, R. H., & Wilbanks, T. (2012). The need for and use of socio-economic scenarios for climate change analysis: a new approach based on shared socio-economic pathways. Global Environmental Change, 22(4), 807-822.

Kundur, S. K. (2012). Development of tourism in Maldives. International Journal of Scientific and Research Publications, 2(4), 1-5.

Lacitignola, D., Petrosillo, I., Cataldi, M., & Zurlini, G. (2007). Modelling socio-ecological tourism-based systems for sustainability. Ecological Modelling, 206(1-2), 191-204.

Lazzeretti, L., Capone, F., & Seçilmiş, I. E. (2016). In search of a Mediterranean creativity. Cultural and creative industries in Italy, Spain and Turkey. European Planning Studies, 24(3), 568-588.

Lamers, M., Eijgelaar, E., & Amelung, B. (2015). The environmental challenges of cruise tourism. The Routledge handbook of tourism and sustainability, 430-439.

Li, J., Pearce, P. L., & Low, D. (2018). Media representation of digital-free tourism: a critical discourse analysis. Tourism Management, 69, 317-329.

Li, Y., Hu, C., Huang, C., & Duan, L. (2017). The concept of smart tourism in the context of tourism information services. Tourism Management, 58, 293-300.

Liquete, C., Piroddi, C., Macías, D., Druon, J. N., & Zulian, G. (2016). Ecosystem services sustainability in the Mediterranean Sea: assessment of status and trends using multiple modelling approaches. Scientific reports, 6, 34162.

Loizidou, M., Giannakopoulos, C., Bindi, M., & Moustakas, K. (2016). Climate change impacts and adaptation options in the Mediterranean basin.

Maragkogianni, A., & Papaefthimiou, S. (2015). Evaluating the social cost of cruise ships air emissions in major ports of Greece. Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 36, 10-17.

Martin, S. (2011). From Cycling Priests to the 'Sportsman's Pope'. Italy, Sport and the Catholic Church. European Review, 19(4), 545-561.

May, J. (1996). In search of authenticity off and on the beaten track. Environment and Planning D: Society and Space, 14(6), 709-736.

McGladdery, C. A., & Lubbe, B. A. (2017). Rethinking educational tourism: proposing a new model and future directions. Tourism Review, 72(3), 319-329.

Merkens, J. L., Reimann, L., Hinkel, J., & Vafeidis, A. T. (2016). Gridded population projections for the coastal zone under the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways. Global and Planetary Change, 145, 57-66.

Mihalic, T. (2016). Sustainable-responsible tourism discourse-Towards 'responsustable'tourism. Journal of Cleaner Production, 111, 461-470.

Moreno, A. (2010). Mediterranean tourism and climate (change): A survey-based study. Tourism and Hospitality Planning & Development, 7(3), 253-265.

Moriarty, J. P. (2012). Theorising scenario analysis to improve future perspective planning in tourism. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 20(6), 779-800.

Morote, Á. F., Saurí, D., & Hernández, M. (2017). Residential tourism, swimming pools, and water demand in the Western Mediterranean. The Professional Geographer, 69(1), 1-11.

Nakicenovic, N., Alcamo, J., Grubler, A., Riahi, K., Roehrl, R. A., Rogner, H. H., & Victor, N. (2000). Special report on emissions scenarios (SRES), a special report of Working Group III of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press.

Nicholls, S. (2006). Climate change, tourism and outdoor recreation in Europe. Managing Leisure, 11(3), 151-163.

Okoli, C., & Pawlowski, S. D. (2004). The Delphi method as a research tool: an example, design considerations and applications. Information & management, 42(1), 15-29.

O'Neill, B. C., Kriegler, E., Riahi, K., Ebi, K. L., Hallegatte, S., Carter, T. R., ... & van Vuuren, D. P. (2014). A new scenario framework for climate change research: the concept of shared socioeconomic pathways. Climatic change, 122(3), 387-400.

Palahi, M., Mavsar, R., Gracia, C., & Birot, Y. (2008). Mediterranean forests under focus. International forestry review, 10(4), 676-688.

Pallis, A. A., Parola, F., Satta, G., & Notteboom, T. E. (2018). Private entry in cruise terminal operations in the Mediterranean Sea. Maritime Economics & Logistics, 20(1), 1-28.

Palomo, I., Martín-López, B., Alcorlo, P., & Montes, C. (2014). Limitations of protected areas zoning in Mediterranean cultural landscapes under the ecosystem services approach. Ecosystems, 17(7), 1202-1215.

Parry, M. L., Rosenzweig, C., Iglesias, A., Livermore, M., & Fischer, G. (2004). Effects of climate change on global food production under SRES emissions and socio-economic scenarios. Global environmental change, 14(1), 53-67.

Pérez-Ruzafa, A., Marcos, C., & Pérez-Ruzafa, I. M. (2011). Mediterranean coastal lagoons in an ecosystem and aquatic resources management context. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C, 36(5-6), 160-166.

Perry, A. (2006). Will predicted climate change compromise the sustainability of Mediterranean tourism?. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 14(4), 367-375. Postma, A., Cavagnaro, E., & Spruyt, E. (2017). Sustainable tourism 2040. Journal of Tourism Futures, 3(1), 13-22.

Postma, A., Buda, D. M., & Gugerell, K. (2017). The future of city tourism. Journal of Tourism Futures, 3(2), 95-101.

Priego, F. J., Rosselló, J., & Santana-Gallego, M. (2015). The impact of climate change on domestic tourism: a gravity model for Spain. *Regional environmental change*, 15(2), 291-300.

Przybylski, A. K., Murayama, K., DeHaan, C. R., & Gladwell, V. (2013). Motivational, emotional, and behavioral correlates of fear of missing out. Computers in Human Behavior, 29(4), 1841-1848.

Riahi, K., Van Vuuren, D. P., Kriegler, E., Edmonds, J., O'neill, B. C., Fujimori, S., ... & Lutz, W. (2017). The shared socioeconomic pathways and their energy, land use, and greenhouse gas emissions implications: an overview. Global Environmental Change, 42, 153-168.

Richards, G. (2007). Cultural tourism: Global and local perspectives. Psychology Press.

Richards, G. (2018). Cultural tourism: A review of recent research and trends. Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management, 36, 12-21.

Rico, A., Martínez-Blanco, J., Montlleó, M., Rodríguez, G., Tavares, N., Arias, A., & Oliver-Solà, J. (2019). Carbon footprint of tourism in Barcelona. Tourism Management, 70, 491-504.

Rodriguez, X. A., Martinez-Roget, F., & Gonzalez-Murias, P. (2018). Length of stay: Evidence from Santiago de Compostela. Annals of Tourism Research, 68, 9-19.

Rodrigues, L. C., van den Bergh, J. C., & Ghermandi, A. (2013). Socio-economic impacts of ocean acidification in the Mediterranean Sea. Marine Policy, 38, 447-456.

Rosselló, J., & Waqas, A. (2016). The influence of weather on interest in a "sun, sea, and sand" tourist destination: The case of Majorca. Weather, Climate, and Society, 8(2), 193-203.

Ruiz-Ballesteros, Esteban, and Rafael Cáceres-Feria. "Community-building and amenity migration in community-based tourism development. An approach from southwest Spain." Tourism Management 54 (2016): 513-523.

Rutty, M., & Scott, D. (2010). Will the Mediterranean become "too hot" for tourism? A reassessment. Tourism and Hospitality Planning & Development, 7(3), 267-281.

Samir, K. C., & Lutz, W. (2017). The human core of the shared socioeconomic pathways: Population scenarios by age, sex and level of education for all countries to 2100. Global Environmental Change, 42, 181-192.

Scott, D., & Gössling, S. (2015). What could the next 40 years hold for global tourism?. Tourism Recreation Research, 40(3), 269-285.

Scott, D., Simpson, M. C., & Sim, R. (2012). The vulnerability of Caribbean coastal tourism to scenarios of climate change related sea level rise. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 20(6), 883-898.

Sobaih, A. E. E., Moustafa, M. A., Ghandforoush, P., & Khan, M. (2016). To use or not to use? Social media in higher education in developing countries. Computers in Human Behavior, 58, 296-305.

Springmann, M., Mason-D'Croz, D., Robinson, S., Garnett, T., Godfray, H. C. J., Gollin, D., ... & Scarborough, P. (2016). Global and regional health effects of future food production under climate change: a modelling study. The Lancet, 387(10031), 1937-1946.

Steiger, R. (2012). Scenarios for skiing tourism in Austria: integrating demographics with an analysis of climate change. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 20(6), 867-882.

Tovar-Sánchez, A., Sánchez-Quiles, D., & Rodríguez-Romero, A. (2019). Massive coastal tourism influx to the Mediterranean Sea: The environmental risk of sunscreens. Science of the Total Environment, 656, 316-321.

Tussyadiah, I. P., Wang, D., Jung, T. H., & tom Dieck, M. C. (2018). Virtual reality, presence, and attitude change: Empirical evidence from tourism. Tourism Management, 66, 140-154.

UNWTO Tourism Highlights: 2018 Edition

UNWTO World Tourism Barometer, Volume 17, Issue 1, January 2019

Urry, J., & Larsen, J. (2011). The tourist gaze 3.0. Sage.

Urtasun, A., & Gutiérrez, I. (2006). Tourism agglomeration and its impact on social welfare: An empirical approach to the Spanish case. Tourism Management, 27(5), 901-912.

Valls, J. F., & Sarda, R. (2009). Tourism expert perceptions for evaluating climate change impacts on the Euro-Mediterranean tourism industry. Tourism Review, 64(2), 41-51.

Van Ruijven, B. J., Levy, M. A., Agrawal, A., Biermann, F., Birkmann, J., Carter, T. R., ... & Kemp-Benedict, E. (2014). Enhancing the relevance of Shared Socioeconomic Pathways for climate change impacts, adaptation and vulnerability research. Climatic Change, 122(3), 481-494.

Vila Subirós, J., Rodríguez–Carreras, R., Varga, D., Ribas, A., Úbeda, X., Asperó, F., ... & Outeiro, L. (2016). Stakeholder perceptions of landscape changes in the Mediterranean mountains of the North–Eastern Iberian Peninsula. Land Degradation & Development, 27(5), 1354-1365.

Vousdoukas, M. I., Mentaschi, L., Voukouvalas, E., Bianchi, A., Dottori, F., & Feyen, L. (2018). Climatic and socioeconomic controls of future coastal flood risk in Europe. Nature Climate Change, 8(9), 776.

Walters, G., Wallin, A., & Hartley, N. (2019). The threat of terrorism and tourist choice behavior. Journal of Travel Research, 58(3)

Weaver, D. (2011). Can sustainable tourism survive climate change?. Journal of sustainable Tourism, 19(1), 5-15.

Yeoman, I., & Lederer, P. (2005). Scottish tourism: Scenarios and vision. Journal of Vacation Marketing, 11(1), 71-87.

Zeayter, H., & Mansour, A. M. H. (2018). Heritage conservation ideologies analysis-Historic urban Landscape approach for a Mediterranean historic city case study. HBRC journal, 14(3), 345-356.

Zerva, K., Palou, S., Blasco, D., & Donaire Benito, J. A. (2018). Tourism-philia versus tourism-phobia: residents and destination management organization's publicly expressed tourism perceptions in Barcelona. Tourism Geographies, 1-24.

## Links

https://www.worldtravelguide.net/features/feature/the-10-best-pilgrimages-for-modern-travellers/